Case No. S223603

MAY 8 2015

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS, SAN DIEGO ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Appellants and Defendant,

VS.

CLEVELAND NATIONAL FOREST FOUNDATION, SIERRA CLUB, CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY, CREED-21, AFFORDABLE HOUSING COALITION OF SAN DIEGO, AND PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Respondents and Petitioners.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal of the State of California Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D063288

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

This Court has granted review on the following issue: "Must the environmental impact report for a regional transportation plan include an analysis of the plan's consistency with the greenhouse gas emission reduction goals reflected in Executive Order No. S-3-05 to comply with the California Environmental Quality Act (Pub. Resources Code, § 21000 et seq.)?"

II. INTRODUCTION

This Court is considering the environmental impact report ("EIR") prepared by the San Diego Association of Governments ("SANDAG") for its 2050 Regional Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy (the "Plan"). The Plan serves both as a transportation plan under state and federal law, and as a Sustainable Communities Strategy under SB 375, one of California's ground-breaking laws seeking to address climate change. By law these plans must be updated every four years. The Plan was the latest in a series of transportation plans, and will soon be replaced by a new, updated plan.

As the Court's statement of the issue indicates, this case is not an argument about climate change. SANDAG takes climate change seriously, committing to do its fair share toward reducing greenhouse gas emissions that contribute to climate change; in fact SANDAG's Plan was the first sustainable communities strategy adopted.

Nor is this a case about disclosure of information. The record demonstrates that SANDAG went to great lengths to fully inform the public about the climate change implications of its Plan and provide the Board of Directors all the information it needed to take action on the Plan. SANDAG's EIR included an extensive analysis of greenhouse gas emissions with detailed and quantified disclosure of potential emissions through 2020, 2035, and 2050. The EIR compared emissions projected

under the Plan against the existing emission levels, as well as evaluating the projections against regional targets for emissions from vehicles established by the California Air Resources Board ("CARB"), and evaluated the Plan for consistency with the statewide greenhouse gas Scoping Plan established by CARB pursuant to AB 32 and with SANDAG's own Climate Action Strategy. SANDAG found that greenhouse gas impacts for 2035 and 2050 would be significant, as emissions would increase due to regional population, housing, and employment growth. SANDAG also found that the EIR's mitigation measures would reduce those emissions, but the measures could not guarantee that sufficient reductions would occur to reduce impacts to a less-than-significant level. Indeed, even though Governor Schwarzenegger's 2005 Executive Order S-03-05 (the "Executive Order" or "Order") is neither a law nor a recognized CEQA threshold of significance, SANDAG's EIR disclosed that the Plan and its mitigation measures could not guarantee that the region would meet the Order's statewide reduction goals.

Rather than disclosure, the crux of the question before the Court is whether SANDAG was required to analyze "consistency" with the Executive Order or use the Order as a threshold of significance to comply with CEQA. The answer is "no." The Order states a general objective of the governor, not a "plan" for greenhouse gas emission reduction and the state has not adopted a plan to implement the Order's 2050 goal. The Final EIR included a detailed, factual response to comments raising this issue, explaining why the EIR did not evaluate consistency with the Executive Order and instead used recognized thresholds to determine the significance of impacts. The EIR also explained that applying the Order as a threshold would not have altered the conclusion that impacts would be significant and unavoidable in 2035 and 2050.

The Court of Appeal majority found that the EIR's failure to analyze the Plan's consistency with the Executive Order was a prejudicial abuse of discretion. The dissenting opinion found the EIR's analysis consistent with CEQA and correctly observed there is no legal basis for requiring an EIR to analyze consistency with any executive order.

This Court has consistently held in California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA")¹ cases that lead agencies have discretion to design EIRs, and that lead agency decisions regarding the scope and methodology of EIR analyses will be upheld if they are supported by substantial evidence. The Guidelines also reserve to lead agencies the discretion to determine which methodology to use to evaluate greenhouse gas emissions. (Guidelines, § 15064.4.) SANDAG's decision to use science-based thresholds rather than the Executive Order was explained and fully supported by substantial evidence. SANDAG complied with Guidelines section 15064.4 by basing its determination on scientific and factual data, using an accepted methodology to quantify emissions, and determining significance after considering and disclosing whether emissions would increase, whether emissions would be consistent with applicable thresholds, and whether emissions would be consistent with applicable plans.

No basis exists to set aside SANDAG's exercise of its discretion. If this Court applies the substantial evidence standard, as it should, there is ample evidence supporting SANDAG's determination that the Executive Order was neither an applicable greenhouse gas reduction plan nor a threshold of significance. If the Court treats this as a compliance with law issue, CEQA has express requirements for the analysis of greenhouse gas

¹ CEQA is set forth at Public Resources Code sections 21100–21189.3. CEQA's implementing regulations, referred to in this brief as the "Guidelines" are set forth at California Code of Regulations, title 14, sections 15000–15387.

impact analysis, and SANDAG complied with all those requirements. Those requirements do not include analyzing the Executive Order in particular, or executive orders in general. Under the compliance with law standard, an EIR cannot be set aside for failure to meet a requirement that does not exist or does not apply. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21083.1.)

SANDAG's determinations regarding the Executive Order should be upheld for additional reasons as well. A long line of CEQA cases holds that lead agencies have discretion to design EIRs and determine EIR study methodology; rejecting that principle here would inject substantial uncertainty into the CEQA process. Further, executive orders are directives to the executive branch of state government. They are general policy statements, rather than rules or regulations. They are not laws adopted by the Legislature. Requiring local and regional agencies to comply with executive orders would violate separation of powers principles. As the dissent below noted, requiring the use of executive order consistency to determine greenhouse gas impacts is a "breathtaking" "insinuation of judicial power into the environmental planning process." (Dis. Opn. at p. 9.)

III. SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

A. Regional Transportation Planning

Regional transportation plans ("RTPs") are prepared by federally designated Metropolitan Planning Organizations ("MPOs") such as SANDAG or, in other areas, by Regional Transportation Planning Agencies created by state law. (AR 218:17688–17689.)

RTPs are governed by federal and state laws, including the California Transportation Commission's Regional Transportation Plan ("RTP Guidelines"). (See 23 U.S.C., § 134; 49 U.S.C., § 5303; 23 C.F.R., § 450.300 *et seq.*; Gov. Code, § 65080 *et seq.*; AR 218:17674–17927 [RTP Guidelines].) The RTP must address a time span extending twenty years

(or more) into the future. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (b)(3).) The RTP must also remain flexible and is required by law to be comprehensively reviewed and updated every four years (or five years in federal air quality attainment areas) to address changing background conditions, such as population and economic changes, transportation funding realities, and transportation technologies. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (d); AR 218:17712–17713.)

Fundamentally, the RTP is an investment plan for federal, state, and local transportation funds. (AR 218:17690-17692.) As the RTP Guidelines state, "[t]he purpose of the RTP is to establish regional goals, identify present and future needs, deficiencies and constraints, analyze potential solutions, estimate available funding, and propose investments." (AR 218:17690.) The RTP must be based on "a financial element that summarizes the cost of plan implementation constrained by a realistic projection of available revenues." (Gov. Code, § 65080, subds. (b)(1), (b)(4)(A); 23 C.F.R., § 450.322, subd. (f)(10); AR 218:17776–17785.) The RTP may not include projects that are not fully funded from current or anticipated revenue sources. (AR 218:17778–17780.) Short-term funding decisions are not governed directly by the RTP but by a Regional Transportation Improvement Program ("RTIP") and its state and federal counterparts which cover near-term (five year or four year) spending. (Gov. Code, §§ 14526, 14529 (state plan); § 65082; 23 C.F.R., §§ 450.324–450.330; AR 218:17703–17704.) While inclusion of a project in the RTP is a prerequisite for inclusion in the RTIP and eventual construction, inclusion in the RTP does not guarantee a project will be built.

Subject to these constraints, the RTP must provide for development and operation of an "integrated multimodal transportation system" that meets the current and long-term needs of all transportation sectors, from

commuters, pedestrians, and disadvantaged populations to private freight carriers. (23 C.F.R., § 450.322(b); Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (b)(1); AR 218:17702.) The RTP must address all major types of transportation systems, including highways, local streets and roads, public transit, aviation, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (a); AR 218:17786–17794.) Factors considered when preparing RTPs include economic productivity, transportation efficiency, interconnectivity, safety and security, and environmental protection. (23 U.S.C., § 134, subd. (h); Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (a); AR 218:17702.)

Because RTPs coordinate federal, state and local transportation planning and investment, RTP planning is inherently collaborative and requires extensive consultation and cooperation among affected federal and state planning and regulatory agencies, local governments and stakeholders such as environmental organizations, business representatives, Native American tribes, community organizations and the general public. (40 C.F.R., § 93.105; AR 218:17743–17757.) RTPs must consider and strive for consistency with adopted federal and state plans, city and county general plans, local coastal programs and other local plans, and must comply with federal and state Clean Air Act requirements. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (a); AR 218:17703–17709; 218:17769–17772.)

B. California's Response to Climate Change

1. Early Actions

California's first action to address climate change occurred in 1988 with the enactment of AB 4420, directing the California Energy Commission to study potential global warming impacts and develop an inventory of greenhouse gas emissions. (Stats. 1988, ch. 1506; AR 319:26142.) In 2000 the Legislature established the California Climate Action Registry to allow public and private agencies to record greenhouse gas emissions in anticipation of a possible cap-and-trade program. (Stats.

2000, ch. 1018.) In 2002 the Legislature adopted AB 1493, generally known as the Pavley legislation, directing CARB to develop and adopt regulations to achieve "the maximum feasible and cost-effective reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from motor vehicles." (Health & Saf. Code § 43018.5, subd. (a).)

2. Executive Order S-03-05

In June 2005, then-Governor Schwarzenegger issued the Executive Order. After declaring California's "leadership role in reducing greenhouse gas emissions," the Order states: "That the following greenhouse gas reduction targets are hereby established in California: by 2010, reduce GHG emissions to 2000 levels; by 2020, reduce GHG emissions to 1990 levels; by 2050, reduce GHG emissions to 80 percent below 1990 levels." (AR 319:27049–27050.) The Order directs various state agencies to form what is now known as the Climate Action Team under the direction of the Cal-EPA Secretary. (AR 319:26144–26146, 27050.) Leading members of the Climate Action Team include CARB and the California Natural Resources Agency ("Resources Agency"). (*Id.*)

The Executive Order does not state a technical basis for its reduction targets, but they appear to be based on studies estimating that stabilization of atmospheric CO₂ levels at approximately 450 parts per million (ppm) would stabilize global temperature levels at approximately 2 degrees centigrade above pre-industrial levels. (AR 319:25810, 320:27791, 27805.) Pre-industrial CO₂ levels are estimated to have been 280 ppm; CO₂ levels in 2008 were approximately 385 ppm. (AR 311:25640; 319:27806.) Achievement of the targets would not avoid significant climate change effects, but could avoid more extreme climate change scenarios. (AR 320:27791.)

3. The Global Warming Solutions Act (AB 32) And SB 97

In 2006 the Legislature enacted the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006, known as "AB 32." (Health & Saf. Code, § 38500 et seq.) AB 32 directs CARB to prepare a scoping plan (the "Scoping Plan") to identify feasible and cost effective measures to reduce statewide greenhouse gas emissions to 1990 levels by 2020. (Health & Saf. Code, §§ 38550, 38561.)

In 2007 the Legislature addressed the role of CEQA in statewide climate planning by directing the Office of Planning and Research (OPR) to draft, and the Resources Agency to adopt, revisions to the state CEQA Guidelines specifically addressing analysis and mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions. (Stats. 2007, ch. 185, § 1 ("SB 97"); Pub. Resources Code, § 21083.05.) One result was Guidelines section 15064.4. (See AR 319:25846–25854 [Resources Agency Final Statement of Reasons for Regulatory Action].)

4. CARB Adopts The Scoping Plan Pursuant to AB 32

In 2008 CARB adopted the Scoping Plan required by AB 32. (AR 319:26120–26260.) The Scoping Plan constitutes the state's official strategy for combatting greenhouse gas emissions. To develop its reduction strategy, the Scoping Plan forecast "business as usual" greenhouse gas emissions for 2020, i.e., emissions expected to occur without major legislative or technological changes. (AR 319:26149–26152.) The Scoping Plan then assigns reduction goals, measured in millions of metric tons (MMT) of CO₂ equivalent (CO₂e) emissions below business-as-usual levels, to be achieved through various measures or programs.²

² Greenhouse gases are comprised of a number of different gases, each of which contributes differently to climate change. (AR 8a:2554.) The units CO₂e (carbon dioxide equivalency) represent a quantity that describes, for a given mixture of greenhouse gases, the amount of CO₂ that would have the same global warming potential. (See *id*.)

(AR 319:26153–26209.) The Scoping Plan estimated that business-as-usual statewide emissions would reach 596 MMT CO₂e by 2020, and that an approximately 30 percent reduction in this amount would be necessary to return to 1990 levels. (AR 319:26149–26152.)

The Scoping Plan reduction targets will be accomplished primarily through state legislative and administrative measures. (AR 319:26154–26164.) Energy efficiency measures, such as green building and utility efficiency standards, are expected to account for 26.3 MMT in reductions. (AR 319:26179–26182.) Conversion to 33 percent renewable electrical energy sources will account for 21.3 MMT. (AR 319:26182–26184.) New vehicle fuel standards (Pavley legislation) and low-carbon fuel standards are expected to account for, respectively, 31.7 MMT and 15.0 MMT in reductions. (AR 319:26155, 26176–26179, 26184–26185, 26189–26190.) Regional transportation planning measures, the focus of the Sustainable Communities and Climate Protection Act of 2008 discussed below, are expected to account for 5 MMT, or slightly less than 3 percent of the total statewide reduction target. (AR 319:26185–26189.)

5. SB 375, Sustainable Communities Planning, And Development Of Regional Emissions Reduction Targets

In 2008 the Legislature enacted the Sustainable Communities and Climate Protection Act of 2008, known as "SB 375." SB 375 focuses on the role of regional transportation planning in reducing greenhouse gas emissions. SB 375 directed CARB to develop, by September 2010, specific numerical targets for emissions reduction from automobiles and light trucks for each regional transportation planning area. (Gov. Code, § 65080(b)(2)(A).) Recognizing that population growth rates, travel patterns and other relevant variables differ widely throughout the state, CARB adopted a system of per capita targets for reductions in emissions from automobile and light trucks expressed in percent change in average

pounds per person per day from 2005 emissions. (See AR 8a:2076.) The San Diego region was assigned targets of 7 percent reductions by 2020 and 13 percent reductions by 2035. (*Id.*) Targets assigned to other regions differ, accounting for regional variations. (CARB, Approved Regional Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction Targets, available at http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/sb375/final_targets.pdf.)

Each regional transportation planning agency must then, in its next regional transportation plan update, include a "sustainable communities strategy" ("SCS") that focuses on achieving the targets set by CARB for reducing greenhouse gas emissions from automobiles and light trucks. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subds. (b)(2)(B)–(N); AR 218:17807–17823; 319:26185–26186.) The SCS must be developed through an intensive public consultation process. (Gov. Code § 65080, subds. (b)(2)(E), (b)(2)(F).) The strategy must address, among other things, regional distribution of land uses and population, housing needs and protection of resource areas. (*Id.*, § 65080, subd. (b)(2)(B); AR 218:17808–17816.) And if possible, the strategy must match forecasted development in the region to transportation plans in a manner that will reduce greenhouse gas emissions to meet SB 375 targets. (Gov. Code § 65080, subds. (b)(2)(A), (b)(2)(B); AR 218:17807.)

The core means of achieving the reductions mandated by SB 375 is to use transportation investments to support "smart growth" planning, which strives to maximize building densities at locations served by public transit and locate residences near needed services and shopping to reduce automobile dependency. (AR 218:17819–17820, 17912–17914.) Other means to reduce automobile trips include transportation pricing and demand management measures, such as promoting carpooling. (AR 218:17820, 17911, 17913.) If the reduction targets set by CARB cannot be met, the MPO must prepare an advisory alternative planning strategy

("APS") that illustrates how the targets could be achieved with further changes to forecasted development patterns or transportation measures. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (b)(2)(I); AR 218:17821.)³

Despite its goal of better integrating land use and transportation planning, SB 375 did not confer any new or different authority over land use planning and regulation on MPOs (or otherwise affect the local control traditionally vested in cities and counties under California law). (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (b)(2)(K); see *DeVita v. County of Napa* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 763, 782–783 [state planning law does not alter local control over zoning].) Instead, in preparing the SCS, an MPO must "utilize the most recent planning assumptions considering local general plans and other factors," i.e., must accept the existing land use plans and zoning of the area's local governments, or rely on reasonably expected changes to these plans, as the basis for transportation planning. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (b)(2)(B); AR 218:17809–17810.) Government Code section 65080, subdivision (b)(2)(K)) provides:

Neither a sustainable communities strategy nor an alternative planning strategy regulates the use of land. . . . Nothing in a sustainable communities strategy shall be interpreted as superseding the exercise of the land use authority of cities and counties within the region. . . . Nothing in this section shall require a city's or county's land use policies and regulations, including its general plan, to be consistent with the regional transportation plan or an alternative planning strategy.

Once adopted, a SCS must be reviewed by CARB. If CARB determines that the strategy will not meet its mandated reduction targets, it may reject

³ An APS shows how the greenhouse gas reduction targets could be achieved unlinked from planning realities such as the constraints imposed by transportation revenue limitations and existing and forecasted local land use plans. The APS must be a separate document from the RTP, and has no legal effect on land use plans or regulations. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subds. (b)(2)(I)(v), (b)(2)(K).

the strategy and require the MPO to prepare a revised SCS or an alternative planning strategy. (Gov. Code, § 65080, subd. (b)(2)(J)(ii).)

C. SANDAG Prepares The 2050 Regional Transportation Plan And Sustainable Communities Strategy

1. <u>SANDAG Prepares The Draft Plan</u>

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