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

This is not a case about whether SANDAG can exercise disqretion to
choose a “threshold” for determining the significance of impacts, or
whether the Executive Order constitutes a “plan” for emissions reductions.
Rather, the case concerns SANDAG’s fundamental responsibility to
disclose the long-term impacts of its RTP/SCS in a manner that reflects the
science underlying California’s climate policy, informs meaningful
decision-méking, and enables the public to hold officials accountable for
their actions. While SANDAG seeks a “safe harbor” for its EIR (OB at
29), there is no such shelter for an EIR that fails to do its fundamental job.

Nor is this a case about the Governor’s executive authority, the
separation of powers doctrine, or the Legislature’s purported occupation of
the field of climate regulation. Instead, it is a straightforward case about
the kind of analysis that CEQA has required for more than 40 years: a
good-faith and complete effort at full disclosure, consiétent with current
scientific knowledge, of a project’s actual physical environmental
consequences. Scientific facts are central to that analysis, and CEQA
requires agencies to confront those facts whether they are embodied in a
piece of legislation, a regulation, an executive order, or the scientific

literature.



Thus, despite SANDAG?’s protestations to the contrary (OB at 1),
this case does center on climate change. Global warming is the
quintessential cumulative environmental impact: it is the sum total of
individual decisions to increase emissions fhat could be catastrophic.
CEQA wisely requires a pause for informed chsideration of each of these
decisions. The Court.of Appeal correctly found SANDAG’s EIR violated

this requirement.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

L. The Science of Climate Change and the Emission Reductions
Required to Avoid Climate Disruption.

The global climate is changing as humans continue to emit
increasing amounts of heat-trapping."gases into the atmosphere.
(AR216:17622.%) Current atmospheric measurements of carbon dioXide
and methane—the two most important greenhouse gases—have reached
their highest levels in 650,000 years. (/bid.) If atmospheric concentrations
rise further, “we face the prospect of water shortages, rising sea levels
along our coast, more frequent and intense wildfires, longer and more
severe heat waves, loss of native plants and animals, worsening air quality,

and difficulty meeting peak energy needs.” (Ibid.)

> Citations to the Administrative Record are in the format “(AR[Tab
number]:[Page number].)” Citations to the Supplemental Administrative
Record are in the format “(SAR[Tab number}:[Page number].)”



To stabilize the climate, atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse
gases must quickly stabilize as well. (AR216:17622-23; AR320:27791).
Avoiding dangerous climate change means that sources cannot continue
emitting climate pollutants at current levels. If present levels of emissions |
continue, atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases will still rise
- because many climate pollutants accumulate in the atmoéphere and exert
their warming influence for decades or even centuries. (Seg, e.g.,
AR216:17622; AR320:27805-06, 27995, 27997.) Thus, the cumulative
nature of greenhouse gas emissions requires greatly reducing emissions
below current levels. Executive Order S-3-05’s goal—reducing emissions |
to 80 percent below 1990 levcj:ls by 2050—reflects the scientific consensus
about the reductions necessary to stabilize the climate and avoid the most
catastrophic impacts of climate change. (AR216:17627; AR320:27848.)

II. California’s Efforts to Reduce Emission of Climate Pollutants.

California took its first major step toward addressing climate change
‘ by enacting AB 1493 (Pavley) in 2002. This law required the California
Air Resources Board (“CARB”) to adopt regulations reducing greenhouse
gas emissions from vehicles. (AR320:27864.)

Three years later, Governor Schwarzenegger issued Executive Order
S-3-05. The Executive Order laid the foundation for California’s long-term
climate change policy by setting increasingly stringent targets for reducing

statewide greenhouse gas emissions to (1) 2000 levels by 2010; (2) 1990



levels by 2020; and (3) .80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050.
(AR319:27049-50; AR8a:2561.) The Executive Order also directed several
state agencies to coordinate “efforts made to meet” these targets.
(AR319:27050.)

The next year, the Legislature enacted the Global Warming
Solutions Act, Health and Safety Code section 38500 et seq. (“AB 32”).
Consistent with the Executive Order, AB 32 among other things directed
CARB to set a specific target for 2020 based on the state’s 1990 emissions
and to adopt regulations that would attain the target. (Health & Saf. Code
§§ 38550, 38562.) As the Court of Appeal below noted, howeyer, the
Legislature did not view the 2020 target as a final end point; rather, it
“;ntended for the [2020] emissions limit to “. . . be used to maintain and
continue reductions in emissions of greenhouse gases beyond 2020.>” (Op.
atp. 10° [quoting Health & Saf. Code § 38551, subd. (b)].)

As required by AB 32, CARB adopted a “Climate Change Scoping
Plan” in 2008. (Health & Safety Code § 38561; AR320:27842.) The
Scoping Plan contains various strategies for reducing greenhouse gases and

functions as a roadmap for achieving AB 32’s reduction mandate. (Op. at

21, fn. 10.) The Scoping Plan also emphasizes that efforts to reduce

3 Citations to the Court of Appeal’s majority opinion below are abbreviated
“Op.” and refer to the slip opinion filed on November 24, 2014 and
subsequently modified on December 14, 2014.



emissions cannot end in 2020. Rather, the Plan’s purpose is to “put the
state on a path to meet the long-term 2050 goal of reducing California’s
greenhouse gas emissions to 80 percent below 1990 levels.”
(AR320:27875.) As the Scoping Plan explains, this “trajectory is consistent
with the reductions that are needed globally to help stabilize the climate.”
(Ibid.; see also AR320:27848 [“Getting to the 2020 goal is not the end of
- the State’s effort‘.”]., 27858-59 [Scoping Plan “will help put California on
course to cut statewide greenhouse gas emissions by 80 percent in 20507].)

In 2008, the Legislature enacted SB 375 (Stats. 2008, ch. 728), to
specifically address transportation-related emissions. SB 375 requires each
metropolitan planning organization, including SANDAG, to adopt a
“sustainable communities strétegy” (“SCS”) as part of its Regional
Transpprtation Plan. (See Gov. Code § 65080, subd. (b)(2); AR8a:2563.)
An SCS coordinates regional transportation, housing, and land use plans for
the purpose of reducing greenhouse gas emissions associated with
passenger vehicle trips. (AR8a:2071.) - Although new vehicle and fuel
technologies can reduce greenhouse gas emissions, SB 375 recognizes that
meeting AB 32’s reduction target also will require improved transportation
plans and smarterrland use policies that reduce driving. (Stats. 2008, ch.
728 § 1(a), (¢) (S;B. 375); AR333:29376.) Accordingly, each SCS must

. set forth a forecasted development pattern for the region,

which, when integrated with the transportation network, and
other transportation measures and policies, will reduce the



greenhouse gas emissions from automobiles and light trucks
to achieve, if there is a feasible way to do so, the greenhouse
gas emission reduction targets approved by the state board.

(Gov. Code § 65080, subd. (b)(2)(B)(vii).)

Pursuant to SB 375, CARB established specific greenhouse gas
reduction targets for various regions throughbut the state. The San Diego
region’s target requires two successive reductions in per capita greenhouse
emissions from 2005 emission levels: (1) a 7 percent reduction by 2020,
and (2) a 13 percent reduction by 2035. (AR8a:2080.)

Most recently, »on April 29, 2015, Governor Brown issued Executive
Order B-30-15. This drder reiterates the state’s goal—initially established
in Executive Order S-3-05—of reducing statewide greenhouse gas
emissions 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. (Exec. Order No. B-30-

15 (April 29, 2015), http://gov.ca.gov/news.php?id=18938.) To help

achieve that goal, Governor Brown’s order sets an interim target to reduce
emissions 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030. (Zbid.)

III.  SANDAG’s Pivotal Role in Transportation Planning and
Achieving Climate Stabilization.

SANDAG is a regional Council of Governments comprised of
representatives from the County of San Diego and the 18 cities in the
region_. (AR8a:2071.) It serves as the Regional Transportation
Commission and federally desighéted metropolitan planning organization

for the region. (/bid.) In those capacities, it has broad responsibility for



regional transportation planning. Pursuant to SB 375, it also has
responsibility for integrating transportation and land use planning by
adopting an SCS that will reduce greenhouse gas emissions. (AR82a:2994.)

A. SANDAG’s Climate Action Strategy.
In March 2010, prior to approving the Plan, SANDAG adopted a

Climate Action Strategy. (AR216:17616-72.) Recognizing that the
Legislature, the Governor, and other agencies have acted to combat climate
change, the Strategy declares that the San Diego region must “do [its] part
to reduce greenhouse gases that contribute to climate change.”
(AR216:17618.) The Strategy expressly references and adopts the
'Executive Order’s 2050 goal of reducing emissions to 80 percent below
1990 levels. (AR216:17624, 17627-28.) SANDAG’s Strategy
acknowledges that this goal “is based on the scientifically-supported level
of emissions reduction needed to avoid significant disruption of the climate
and is used as the long-term driver for state climate change policy
development.” (AR216:17627.) The Strategy also recognizes that meeting
the Executive Order’s 2050 goal “will require fundamental changes in
policy, technology, and behavior.” (AR 216:17628.)
After expressly adopting the 2050 goal, the Strategy proceeds to

quantify the emissions reductions necessary for thé San Diego region to
meet its share of this goal. (/bid.) It then sets forth a general approach for

achieving the required reductions by “identif[ying] the many types of land



use and transportation-related policy options available to help SANDAG
| and local governments achieve greenhouse gas reductions from the on-road
transportation sector.” (AR216:17643; see also AR216:17624 [these
policies are intended to “help[] achieve short-term (2020) and longer-term
(2035 and 2050) goals for greenhouse gas emission reduction”].)

Not surprisingly, the first goal identified by the Strategy is reducing
total miles of vehicle travel. (AR216:17643.) The Strategy explains that
although state efforts to promote fuel efficient vehicles and low carbon
fuels are critical, they “will not achieve the long-term 2050 goal for
greenhouse gas reduction unless per capita vehicle miles traveled in the
state is reduced.” (AR216:17644.)

B. SANDAG?’s Regional Transportation Plan/Sustainable
Communities Strategy.

1. SANDAG’s Plan Facilitates Increased Driving and
Emission of Climate Pollutants.

State law charges SANDAG with developing the region’s regional
transportation plan (“RTP”), which it must update every four years.
(ARBa:2993.) The RTP constitutes SANDAG’s blueprint for the
transportation system—including highways, local streets, transit, bicycling,
walking, airports, and systems for managing travel demand—that will serve
the San Diego region over the next four decades. (AR8a:2071.)
SANDAG’s RTP prioritizes and allocates funds for all of these proposed

transportation enhancements. (AR190a:13063-66, 13237-51, 133385-446.)

10



SANDAG alsé administers a local sales tax measure, known as TransNet, '
that funds a large number of these enhancements. (AR8a:2995.)

As SANDAG’s EIR explains, the Plan’s stated “goal is to create
communities that are fnore sustainable, walkable, transit-oriented, and
.compact—thereby providing transportation options and lowering GHG
emissions.” (AR8a:2077.) In particular, the Plan “envisions an ambitious
and far-reaching transit network that significantly expands the role that
transit plays in meeting the region’s needs for mobility and reducing GHG
emissions.” (AR8a:2078.)

Unfortunately, SANDAG’s Plan falls short of these goals. Although
SANDAG acknowledged that regional transit investments would have
maximum effect in urbanized areas (AR190b:14214), the Plan fails to make
these investments. Instead, it prioritizes numerous freeway and highway
expansions within urbanized areas, including expansions of the I-5, I-8, I-
15, I-805, SR-52, SR-56? SR-94 and SR-125. (See AR8a:2116-22;
190b:14217.) The Plan also calls for widening highways in the region’s
suburban and rural communities, thus facilitating travel to the County’s
back country. (AR8a:2118; AR190b:14217.)

Although the Plan would fund some transit projects, it postpones
their construction for decades. (AR190a:13247 [schedﬁling 75 percent of
~ transit expenditures after 2030], 13267-69 [majority of transit projects built

in Plan’s later decades].) Moreover, many of SANDAG’s “transit” projects
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involve widening highways to include “managed lanes.” (AR8a:2119,
2115, 2112.) While buses and carpools can use these lanes, single-
- occupant vehicles can also pay to use most of them. (AR8a:21 12.)
Independent reviewers concluded that, far from promoting regional transit,
the Plan’s surge in freeway capacity “will perpetuate auto-oriented
development and reduce transit’s competitiveness.” (AR320:28481.)
Under its Plan, SANDAG anticipates exceeding SB 375’s
greenhouse gas reduction goal for 2020 but just barely meeting the goal for
2035. (AR8a:2104.) However, its Plan deserves little credit for achieving
these goals. Rather, the reductions principally originate from two sources
unrelated to the Plan: the lengthy économic recession and the state’s
mandatory vehicle efficiency and fuel standards sustain these early
emissions reductions; the agency projects that the region’s overall
emissions will increase after 2020 and exceed current levels by 2050.
(AR8a:2578 [overall greenhouse gas emissions in 2050 will be 17 percent
higher than 2010 emissions].) Regional per capita emissions also will rise
again after 2020. (See AR8a:2104.) CARB emphasized in a letter to
~ SANDAG that this “trend in per capita GHG emissions is unexpected,” as
SB 375 and RTP/SCSs are designed to provide greater, not lesser,
greenhouse gas reductions over time. (SAR344:30143; see also id. at pf).

30144, 30188-89.)
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Moreover, despite the Plan’s purported emphasis on transit, by 2050
vehicle miles travéled will balloon by more than 50 pércent. (AR8b:4436.)
Population growth alone will not cause this increase; under the Plan,

- individuals in 2050 also will drive more miles daily on a per capz;ta basis
than they do now. (AR8b:4435 [Tables é, 3])

2. Public Comment on SANDAG’s Plan and EIR.

Plaintiffs and ofhers submitted comments that criticized SANDAG’s
Plan, focusing in particular on its postponement of transit measures. (See,
e.g., AR224:17972-75; AR227:18053-55; AR229:18119-18204;
AR230:18205-08; AR239:19037-40; AR296:19667-19768.) Plaintiffs
warned that the Plan incorrectly assumed aggressive highway expansion
would not affect patterns of land use development and employed incorrect
assumptions in predicting transit ridership. (AR292:19657; AR296:19678-
79.)

Plaintiffs and others also commented that the EIR failed to comply
with CEQA. In particular, the Cleveland National Forest Foundation and
Center for Biological Diversity criticized the EIR’s failure to compare the
Plan’s upward emissions trajectory for greenhouse gases to the Executive
Order’s reduction goals. (AR296:19684-85.) Likewise, the Attorney
General warned SANDAG that the Plan allows “per capita GHG emissions
from cars and light-duty trucks [to] increase as compared to the previous

year after 2020” and that the EIR failed to address the impact of this
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emissions trajectory on the state’s ability to meet its long-term climate
objectives. (AR311:25641-42 [emphasis in original].) Commenters also
criticized the EIR’s failures to analyze an alternative that would reduce
greenhouse gas emissions over the Plaﬁ’s life and to include enforceable
mitigation for the Plan’s signiﬁcant climate impacts. (AR296:19681-83,
19687-91; AR306:24881-85; AR311:25642; AR320:27704-19.)

Despite these criticisms, SANDAG approved the Plan and certified
the EIR for the Plan on October 28, 2011. (AR6:223-24.)

IV.  Procedural History of the Litigation.
A. The Superior Court Ruling Against SANDAG.

In November, 2011, Plaintiffs filed two separate actions challenging
SANDAG’s approval and EIR. (JA2:14-42; JA1:1-13.*) In January, 2012,
the trial court granted the People’s motion to intervene. (JA29:198-99.)
The cases were subsequently consolidated. (JA38:264-74.)

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